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On January 26, 2018, the Honourable Justice Englekin requested the involvernent of
the Office of the Children’s Lawyer. This Office consented {o provide services pursuant
to section 112 of the Couris of Justice Act on March 12, 2018. On March 12, 2018, this
mafter was assigned to this clirical investigator.

This file was delayed as the Children’s Aid Sbciety of Ottawa required more time to
provide disclosure.

A Disclosure Meeting was held on June 28, 2018.

Please note that the Sources of Information (Appendix A) & Collateral Information
(Appendix B) are located at the end of the report.




LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

'Children
Sean Kiska— 12 years of age — male- Biological son to the Parties
Cate Kiska— 10 years of age — female- Biological daughter to the Parties

Parent/Party
Jonathan Kiska— 57 years of age— Applicant /Biclogical father to the children— Seif-

employed/Consultant- Ottawa
Deirdre Moore— 52 years of age— Respondent /Biological mather to the children—
Unemployed— Ottawa

SUMMARY OF SITUATION !

Sean and Cate Kiska were born of the former union between Jonathan Kiska and ?
Deirdre Moore. Sean is 12 years of age and Cate is 10 years of age. They attend the
same school in Ottawa in French immersion. Both children were planned. The present
access schedule is 2-2-3, with the Parties having joint custody of the two children. At
the present time, the communication between the Parties is strained and problematic.

Mr. Kiska recalls that he and Ms. Moore met in 1996 and started cohabitating during the
fall of 1997. Ms. Moore recalls starting to date in 1995, The former couple agrees that
they separated more than once during their relationship, and attempted to reunite
around April 2016. However, by November 2018, the couple separated for the final time.
The parents entered an interim parenting agreement dated December 13, 2016, Both
parents reside in Ottawa.

Mr. Kiska stated that the relationship between him and Ms. Moore deteriorated over
time, related to her mental health issues. Ms. Moore reported that she was emotionally,
psychologically, and sexually abused by Mr. Kiska, who denies any abuse. Ms. Moore
has been admitted to hospitals a number of times since 2013 for mental health issues.
She has been involved with the capacity board twice, which resulted in one Treatment
Order. Mr. Kiska shared that there have been a number of incidents related to Ms.
Moore's mental health instability that are concerning and that have impacted the
children. He has called upon the assistance of the police and the Children’s Aid Society
to assist him with Ms. Moore’s instability and the safety of the children.

The ongoing adult conflict between the Parties remains. The children are aware of the
adult conflict between their parents and shared that previous to their parents’
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separation, their parents argued often. The children report that since their parents’
separation, the arguing has decreased and is much better.

Custody — Access - Issues (& Responses)

Ms. Moore is requesting sole custody of the children, Sean and Cate Kiska,
and that supervised access occurs via third party between the father and
the children. She is amenable to the present access schedule consisting of
2-2-3. '

Mr. Kiska is requesting sole custody of the children, Sean and Cate Kiska.
He is requesting that the present access schedule of 2-2-3 be maintained.

It should be noted that both Parties originally requested joint custody.
However, with the ongoing adult conflict, the Parties changed their request
to sole custody during their final interview.

Ms. Moore raised the following issues and concerns:
o She questions the father’s ability to parent, as he has refused to support Cate’s

academic needs and her tutoring this summer. /f is the father's opinion that his
daughter has time ahead of her fo cafch up and that she should bensfit from the
summer months. He does not believe that Cate requires tutoring during the
summer and that providing her with supports during the next acadermic year
woulid be sufficient.

She is concerned about the father's behaviors with Cate, as the father will sif in
bed with Cate, while watching a movie, and stroke Cate's hair. Ms. Moore adds
that the father has also hugged Cate with his hands touching the side of her
breast. Additionally, Cate has served her father coffee and toast in bed. The
mother is of the opinion that the father is treating his daughter as he would his
“girlfriend”. The father denies that he is treating his daughter as a girifriend. The
father shared that he has a close relationship with both his children and is
affectionate towards them. He feels this is an indication of the mother's mental
health and how it can impact the children, and his relationship with the children,
as the mother seems to think of the worst of him.

She is concerned with the father's manipulation towards Cate and is of the
opinion that the father is creating similar situations with Cate that he has done
with Ms. Moore. For example, Ms. Moore explained that messages were sent in
Cate's name that Cate adamantly denies sending. Another example is when
Cate's glasses went missing. According to Ms. Moore, Mr. Kiska had Cate's
glasses but blamed Cate for misplacing them. However, Cate reported that her




father was cleaning them at the house and then placed them in his shirt pocket.

Upon arrival at school, Cate asked for her glasses and her father replied that she

had them and that he gave them to her at the house. Cate was adamant that her

father last had the glasses in his shirt pocket and never gave them to her on the ;
way to school. Ms. Moore arranged to replace Cate's glasses at her own
expense, as Ms. Moore felt that Cate's glasses are essential for her, especially

given her eye condition. Ms. Moore did not want Cate going to school with a

patch over her eye at her age, and especially given Cate's anxiety and school

drama. The father is of the opinion that he gave the glasses back to Cale af the

} house and that she forgot Regardless, the father is concerned about how a

| minor incident, such as misplacing glasses, became a huge issue, and how he is

! being blamed again by the mother.

‘ o She is concerned that the father will continue to perpetuate the ongoing adult
conflict to trigger a psychotic episede on her part, which has been Mr. Kiska's
pattern. Mr. Kiska stated that he is not trying fo "trigger” Ms. Moore, and that she
makes up aflegations and blames him for all her problems, and does not hold
herself accountable for events that happen in her life.

o She is concemed that the father will continue to provide false information
regarding her to those who will listen, including professionals. She cites that
ﬁ when she was admitted for a psychotic episode in 2013, Mr. Kiska made alleged
C false statements to medical professionals, police, Children’s Aid and others that
have created a false representation of her, and that have been detrimental to her
and her children. She is of the opinion that Mr. Kiska's intention is to get sole
custody of the two children by damaging her character and using her mental
health as the rational. The father is of the opinion that the information he
provided at the hospital in 2013 was accurate. He was being supporiive and
wanted the best for the children and Ms. Moore, whom he loved very much then.

The father is of the opinion that Ms. Moore’s mental health is unpredictable, and

as such is a risk to the children.

Mr. Kiska raised the following issues and concerns:

o He is concerned that the mother is unable to manage her mental health
challenges. He cites that the mother accused him of placing bacon on her
doorstep, being involved in her Linkedin account, and involved with her aps on
her electronics. He is concemned that although the mother is involved in
counselling with Dr. Jackson, whom Mr. Kiska has no “credence in”, that she is
not getting the support she needs. The mother received a number of diagnoses
that demonstrate the difficulties with diagnosing mental health. However, she
stated that her consistent and more recent diagnosis is Brief Psychotic Episodes.

ﬂ The mother adds that she is involved with regular supports and counselling, and




has on her own accord attended the hospital and requested fo be admitted. Her
episodes are triggered by the stress related to the ongoing conflict between her
and Mr. Kiska. She alleges that Mr. Kiska is using "gaslighting”, which has also
been suggested by Dr. Jackson.

He is concerned with the overabundance of inappropriate and accusatory
communications from Ms. Moore. The father shared that Ms. Moore is abrasive
and critical in her perpetual emails to him, and that she has sent the same emails
to others, thus involving them in the family’s personal affairs, and tarnishing his
reputation and possibly impacting the children and their relationship with those
individuals. The mother acknowledges that she has sent emails that have been
aggressive in nature but is of the opinion that her emails protect her should
anything occur fo her or the children, which Dr. Jackson is supportive of. She
was advised by Dr. Jackson fo change her style in her communications, along
with who she sends her communications to, which Ms. Moore reporis having
done more recently.

He is concerned with what the chiidren witnessed last August, September and
October, and how these events may negatively impact them. The mother shared
that the situation at Best Buy was unfortunate and that Cate was not present at
the time the police arrived. There was an incident when the father was calfled fo
pick up the children at the hospital at 05:00 in the morning. The mother attended
the hospital on her own accord to be admitted and was concerned at that time for
the safety of children if returned to the father. The mother explained that she has
developed insight in to her illness and has atfended the hospital on her own
accord for admission or supports. She has additionally asked the Children’s Aid
Society to keep her file open to support the children and their needs. She adds
that the father has been escalating the situation fo trigger admissions, so that he
can make the argument that he should have sole custody. The mother feels that
if the father is so concemed about the children, that he would stop triggering her,
should financially contnbute for Cate'’s tutoring and her replacement glasses,
none of which he has done.

He is concerned that the mother involves the children in the aduit conflict, as she
has taken Cate to court in January 2018 and has shared information relating to
the custody access with the children. The mother has not involved the children in
the ongoing adulf conflict. The children are aware of the conflict befween the
parents. The mother has kept all her documents away from the children and feels
the children should not be involved. However, both children are smart and
observant and are aware of the situation.

He is concerned that the mother blames him for everything including Cate’s
mathematic challenges. The mother explained that the father has been triggering
her to have psychotic episodss, so in effect he is to blame for the perpetuated




stressors. With regards to Cate’s mathematics, the father has made it quite clear
that he is not supportive of summer school for Cate, even with the teachers

~ recommendations, Cate's report cards and the assessment that indicates that
she is almost two years behind and needs supports.

o He is concerned that Ms. Moore's delusions may be directed to Sean as he ages.
The mother is not concerned about her delusions being directed fowards the
children. She feels that the father is trying fo create a situation in order fo get
custody. This is a made up concern and shows how desperate Mr. Kiska is fo
creale a false representation of Ms. Moore’s mental health iliness.

o He is concerned as Dr. Jackson and Dr. Mercer only have one side of the story.
He feels that Ms. Moore isn't providing these doctors with all the “real”
information. The mother has been upfront with her physicians and suspects that
Mr. Kiska would like to have the opportunity to meet with her physicians fo
convince them that his perception and information is the truth. She has provided
documentation to Dr. Jackson demonstrating the lies that Mr. Kiska has made
about her.

INTERVIEWS WITH MOTHER

Ms. Moore shared that she was born and raised in Ottawa, She graduated from high
school and attended one year at Sheridan in retail management. Ms. Moore reports that
she graduated with Honors with a Bachelors in Business at Wilfred Laurier and is a
Chartered Financial Analyst.

Ms. Moore explained that she left home at the age of 18 or 17. She was involved in
shoplifting. She reports that she slit her wrists and was involved with CHEQ for a brief
period. Ms. Moore has a sister in Kingston and another sister who resides in Ottawa.
Her parents remain together and reside in Ottawa. Ms. Moore explained that her
relationships with her family members are presently strained due to the adult conflict
between her and Mr. Kiska, who has been actively trying to convince her family
members that she is mentally unstable. Ms. Moore added that Mr. Kiska has gone so far
as to approach her family members to support his position that she is unstable. He has
additionally asked her father to have her deemed incapacitated.

Ms. Moore explained that Mr. Kiska has been abusive towards her for a long time and
that she did not recognize it at first. She accuses Mr. Kiska of “gaslighting” and
providing false information to the professionals that she has been involved with.
According to Ms. Moore, Mr. Kiska gave false information that resulted in her being
diagnosed with Bipolar in 2013. This has resulted in her misdiagnosis, which has been




problematic, as this misdiagnosis has been referred to and applied with her other
hospital involvements.

Ms. Moore shared that she has had several hospitalizations since 2013 and has been
assessed by several physicians. She does not deny that she has experienced psychotic
episodes and states that these have been triggered by the stress of the custody battle
between her and Mr. Kiska, and also by his behaviors. Ms. Moare explained that the
alleged abuse by Mr. Kiska is not so evident. She explained that in order to protect
herself, she has copied others with her communications to Mr. Kiska, which Dr. Jackson
is aware of and supports. Ms. Moore explained that recently her communications have
been limited fo those she trusts,

Ms. Moore has compiled documents to support her allegations against Mr. Kiska, which
she reports Dr. Jackson has seen and believes her. Mr. Kiska has made claims
regarding Ms. Moore's behaviors that Ms. Moore has evidence to the contrary. She has
alleged that Mr. Kiska and his counsel have lied fo the Judge.

With regards fo her involvement with the justice system, Ms. Moore reports being
“apprehended” by the police in 2013 and 2014. She denies having any convictions.
These incidents are related fo the stress of the ongoing custody battle and have been
brief in duration.

As for substances, Ms. Moore explained that she tried marijuana as a teen and disliked
it. She enjoys wine when the children are in bed, but does not drink to excess.

Ms. Moore reports being involved in supports and counselling, and remains in contact
with Dr. Jackson on a regular basis. She reports having developed insight into her
mental health, and has developed and continues to develop strategies and coping skilis
to support her mental health.

Ms. Moore shared that Cate has anxiety and was considered “blind” with her right eye.
She wore a patch for some time and now has prescribed eye wear. Cate can be defiant
at times, which results in a time out. She is also known to “lie”. As for Sean, Ms. Moore
explained that Sean is quiet and although she tries to engage him in sharing his feelings
and such, Sean shares little. Although Sean and Cate have some minor disputes now
and then, they remain very close and support one another. They are also very
protective of each other.

Ms. Moore explains that she “lost” her family, friends, and professional contacts, and
has been unable to secure work, which has resulted in financial struggles.




Parenting Plan

Ms. Moore shared that she has been and will continue to try to secure employment. She
is considering a number of options but acknowledges that she has not been successful
as yet. She has no plans to move from Oftawa and will continue to be present for the
children and support their needs, including paying for Cate’s tutoring alone if Mr. Kiska
continues to refuse to contribute. She recognizes that the children have a close
relationship with their father and will ensure that the children have a heaithy and safe
relationship with him and his family. She has developed a safety plan in the event that a
psychotic episode develops. Ms. Moore further plans on remaining involved with Dr.
Jackson and seek suppotts, including hospital admission when indicated. She hopes
that she and Mr. Kiska will resolve their issues soon and that the family can heal and
move forward.

INTERVIEWS WITH FATHER

Mr. Kiska was born in Hamilton and raised in Ottawa. He graduated from high school
and attended Carlton University in business, followed by a Master in Business in
Burnaby. He is a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA).

Mr. Kiska has two sisters that reside in Ottawa and with whom he has a good
relationship. They have been supportive with regards to the custody situation and Ms.
Moore's mental heaith issues. Mr. Kiska reports that his parents are deceased. As a
child, his father had a pizza franchise and Mr. Kiska worked during various periods and
occasions, such as the Calgary Stampede and carnivals. He reports leaving home
when he attended university.

Mr. Kiska denies involvement with the justice system with the exception of requiring
their support related to Ms. Moore's mental heaith issues. Mr. Kiska explained that he
drinks a beer a day or a couple of glasses of wine with pizza, but never to excess. He
denies mental health issues.

Mr. Kiska expressed that he and Ms. Moore had a very good life and partnership with
their consulting business prior to Ms, Moore’s mental health iliness. They secured
government contracts, among others. He shared that he loves his wife but that her
mental health illness and her repeated accusations and allegations against him have
created a strained relationship that has resulted in limited productive communications
and problematic co-parenting. He feels very hurt by her actions. His main goal is to
protect the children and makes sure they are safe.




Mr. Kiska is of the opinion that the children need their mother in their lives, but wants to
make sure that their mother is stable and able to care for the children, and that the
children are not negatively impacted by her mental health challenges. With the
repeated hospital admissions and the mother's continued denial of her iliness, it's
challenging to trust that the children will be safe in her care, especially when the
mother's psychotic episodes are unpredictable. The father shared that the children
have been through a lof this past August, September and October. They have
witnessed the involvement of the police and the hospital with their mother, which has
likely negatively impacted the children. Mr. Kiska shared that it isn’t a “brief psychotic
episode” when it lasts for five months. He does not feel Ms. Moore is compliant with her
medications and that she appears to be vulnerable in the fall.

Mr. Kiska added that from March 3 to the 5%, 2013, Ms. Moore was formed for 72 hours
for a psychological assessment at the Ottawa civic. She was admitted for six weeks
from April 6 to May 28, 2013 and diagnosed with bipolar at the Ottawa Givic. She was
subsequently formed for 72 hours from July 3 to the 5, 2014 for a psychological
assessment at the Montfort hospital. She was additionally formed from July 9 to August
28, 2014, and a Community Treatment Plan was ordered. On October 12, 2015 Ms.
Moore voluntarily admitted herself to the hospital.

Mr. Kiska shared that Cate has special needs for her vision. She is described as having
a “lazy eye” and wore a patch on her right eye, but now has glasses. She also struggles
with mathematics at school. Mr. Kiska feels the school is supporting Cate, and that extra
math and the tutoring can be accomplished during the upcoming academic year and not
during the summer. Mr, Kiska wanted to wait for the results of Cate’s assessment and
see “where it lands” before making any decisions. He shared that he was advised by Dr.
Matheson that without a diagnosis, Cate is not eligible for an IEP.

Mr. Kiska shared that both children were involved with Dr. Matheson in the past. As a
whole, he is of the opinion that it would “probably benefit” Cate to see Dr. Matheson
within the family context, as she is “remorseful that her parents aren’t together”. Mr.
Kiska is “ok” with the counselling and shared that Cate is open to seeing Dr. Matheson
again.

With regards to Sean, Mr. Kiska is of the opinion that Sean could benefit from
counselling but that “he isn't chatty like Cate”. Mr. Kiska has encouraged Sean to go

out with his friends on the weekends. Sean enjoys camping and Mr. Kiska would like
Sean to have the opportunity to camp, but is uncertain as to Ms. Moore’s position on
that. With regards to practicing his sax, Mr. Kiska explained that Sean is not passionate .
about playing his saxophone, although he enjoys it. He did not play in a band this past




year. He told his son that “if your goal is to be in a band, then it's up to you. | can’t push

®

you",

Mr. Kiska shared that he prefers the present access schedule, as he feels a week is too
fong for the children and Ms. Moore. He added that it is also the children’s preference.
He reports a close relationship with the two children and added that although Ms. Moore
has made claims regarding his actions with Cate, such as being in bed with her, Mr.
Kiska explained that Cate will ask him to lie in bed with her to watch a movie. His
recognizes that his time doing so is limited, as the children get older and become mare
independent and involved with their friends.

Mr. Kiska referred to his involvement with Dr. Cardoso as the “best experience I've

had”. He reports that there is good dialogue, and Dr. Cardoso is direct with Ms. Moore
and calls Ms. Moore “out”, According to Mr. Kiska, Dr. Cardoso stated that the mother
has “residual delusions”. Both parents continue to attend together. Mr. Kiska shared that
“f we had this in 2013, we would likely not be here today”. His goal with the counseliing
is communication and co-parenting, while Ms. Moore’s goal was covert: {o have the
father assessed. The father has paid for the sessions.

Mr. Kiska stated that “moving forward, if with Dr. Mercer nothing has changed with
Deirdre, why would | expect anything to change. | thought | would be in a better position
separated”. Mr. Kiska wants the children to have their mother in their lives if the mother
is on a treatment plan and is compliant with the treatment plan. However, Mr. Kiska
feels that this does not appear to be the situation with the mother.

Parenting Plan

The father plans on remaining in Ottawa and in the same residence, if he is not forced
to sell the family house. He will continue to manage his consulting business and work at
securing contracts. He will make sure the children have relationships with their mother
and her family members, as well as with the paternal family members. He will engage
the children in community and school events, and continue to support and be present
for his children. Most of all he will love and protect them.

OBSERVATION OF INTERACTION BETWEEN THE MOTHER & THE CHILDREN:

The observation visit with the mother and the two children occurred at the mother's
residence. The mother resides in a bungalow in a residential area of Ottawa. The home-
is clean and organised, with each child having their own bedroom. There are documents
regarding the custody battle in the dining area that are covered.




Upon the Clinician’s arrival, Cate was in the kitchen with her mother making breakfast:
waffles from a family recipe. Sean was helping intermitiently and also showing off his
collection of masks. Both children aiso played with their dog and cat intermittently.

As the mother and daughter were preparing the waffles, the mother praised the
daughter and encouraged her as well. She hugged and touched Cate affectionately,
which Cate accepted. The mother provided suggestions that Cate accepted. The two
presented as happy and having fun making the waffles. Sean assisted with preparing
the table with cutlery, maple syrup, strawberries, milk and such. The mother would
touch Sean affectionately on his shoulders as he retrieved the various items to add to
the table. Sean was present in the kitchen while the mother and daughter prepared the
waffles, and looked on as they worked, He joined in intermittently. Cate and the mother
prepared the whipped cream and they all sat at the table together to eat. During the
meal time, the mother and the children were engaged in various conversations. The
children presented as happy, with smiles and jokes.

After the children and the mother cleaned up the table and the dishes, the three went
outside to play softball together. Each child took their turn at bats and enjoyed playing.
The mother gave encouragement and praise to the children.

Summary:

The mather provided praise and encouragement, and demonstrated patience with Cate
in preparing the waffles and whipped cream. The children worked well together and
there was no conflict between them. There was an atmosphere of cooperation and
calm. They presented as happy and enjoying themselves: smiling and faughing
together, and telling jokes. Cate and Sean were receptive to their mother's affection.
The children responded to their mother's directions. There was continued conversation
between the three throughout the observation visit. The children were well behaved and
there were no concerns noted.

OBSERVATION OF INTERACTION BETWEEN THE FATHER & THE CHILDREN:

The observation visit with the father and the two children occurred at the father’s
residence. The father resides in a residential area in Ottawa. The children have their
own bedrooms. The home is relatively clean with documents on the table and kitchen
counter that are flipped over on their underside.
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Upon the arrival of the Clinician the father and the two children were outside. The three
engaged in several activities while outside. Sean was encouraged to pick up the leaves
and twigs in the front area, and also played making bubbles with his father. Cate played
in the hammock, practiced her cartwheels, and drew on the driveway with chalk, with
her father adding one of his own drawings of a flower. The three aiso played softball
together for a short time, with each taking their turn at the bat. The father provided
praise and encouragement to the children during the softball, but also to Sean while he
was cleaning up the yard.

The father referred to Cate as “babe” and Sean as “Bucky”. He maintained a safe
environment when the chiidren climbed a tree in the front yard. The father reminded
them not to climb too high and to be careful with the size of the branches they were
climbing on.

After being outside for a period, the children and their father went inside. Cate wanted to -
make cupcakes. She and the father took out the equipment and supplies to make the
cupcakes. Sean wanted to help but Cate did not want her brother to be involved. The
father encouraged Cate to allow her brother to be part of the process. Sean attempted
to help several times, which resulted in arguments between him and Cate. Despite the
father's encouragement to allow Sean to participate, Cate was adamant in her position
not to allow her brother to assist, and argued with her father. In the end, Sean was not
part of the cupcake making process.

Sean started to display attention seeking behaviors, such as teasing Cate and climbing
into a cupboard. His father directed him to stop teasing his sister. However, Sean did
not respond to his father and kept on teasing his sister. An argument ensued between
Sean and Cate. The father told the children to “get along together” and did not interject.
The father assisted Cate with making the cupcakes and provided Cate with praise. The
father attempted to show affection to Cate, with a hug while she was preparing the
cupcakes, but Cate pulled away.

Sean walked around the kitchen aimiessly. He attempted to help with the cupcakes but
was rejectad. He climbed in to a cupboard in the kitchen where Cate was warking.
Despite his father's repeated directions to come out from the cupboard, Sean remained.
Mr. Kiska had to be physically remove Sean from the cupboard. Sean walked around
the kitchen looking for something to do. The father encouraged Sean to practice his
saxophone, but Sean wasn't interested. Sean asked to go to his bedroom but his father
wanted him to remain with them. He continued to walk around the kitchen area and then
started to jump over the couch and roll onto the other side. This turned in fo a game, .
and Cate joined in. The two played well together with some intermittent pushing and
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complaining about the other. Initially the father told the children not play on the couch,
as they could fall and get hurt. However, he watched them play and told them to play
carefully so that neither one falls on the other. The two children laughed and had fun.

Summary:

The children presented as happy and engaged with their father for the outdoor activities.
The father provided praise and encouragement to the children, and attempted to show
affection to Cate while she was making the cupcakes. However, she pulled away from
her father. He assisted Cate with her cooking. The children did not work together
despite their father's encouragement, and the children argued. The children did not
appear to respond to the father’s directions and Cate made the final decision as to
whether Sean could assist with the cupcakes or not. Sean appeared to be put aside, as
Cate and the father worked together leaving Sean walking around aimiessly. The
atmosphere in the kitchen was somewhat unsettled with the conflict between the
children, the arguing, Sean’s behaviors, and the repeated directions from the father that
were dismissed by the children.

THE CHILDREN:

Cate Kiska

Cate was interviewed in private at each of her parents' residences. She was
forthcoming with information and presented as comfortable and articulate.

Cate is ten years of age and attends schoo! in French immersion in grade 5. She
described her teacher as “strict”, as she does not let Cate go to the washroom but Cate
is allowed to have a water bottie. Cate shared that she is social and enjoys school, with
the exception of gym, as there is no learning. She adds that she has a lot of friends at
school but that there is a lot of drama.

Cate is aware that she is behind in mathematics. She spoke cof being involved with
tutoring and shared that she enjoys it and doesn’t mind missing her summer, She was
excited to report to this writer that she received 100% on her most recent work and also
an 82 or 88% on another assignment. She described the tutoring staff as “nice and
great to work with”, Cate spoke of her tutoring experience in positive terms.

Cate enjoys drama, gymnastics, chess, music, diving and cooking. She enjoys watching

cooking shows and trying new things. She shared that she has panic attacks but can
usually control them.
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At home, Cate informs that she and her brother get time outs if they don't listen, but
those are rare. Cate recognizes that she can be argumentative with her mother but
adds that she will respond to her mother's directions regardless of her position. Cate
explained that her mother doesn’t altow for Cate and Sean to argue or fight, and insists
that they work together. At her father's, Cate shared that this is not the case and that
she and Sean argue and don't get along all the time, as Sean will tease her. She
informed that her father encourages her and Sean to get along but doesn’t do anything
when they don't. According to Cate, they practice their instruments while at their
mother's but don’t when they are at their father’s.

Cate was asked about her glasses. She reported that one morning she was getting
ready for school and her father cleaned her glasses for her. On the way to the vehicle,
she asked her father if he had her glasses, which he stated that they were in his shirt
packet. Once they arrived to the school, Cate asked her father for her glasses but her
father told her that he did not have the glasses and that Cate had them at the house.
Cate was adamant that her father had them and did not give them to her. She was also
confident that he told her that he had them in his shirt pocket.

Cate shared that she remembers the situation at Best Buy with her mother. She reports
being anxious but not scared. She wasn't sure what was going on and that it was the
yelling that triggered her anxiety. She was happy to see her father and go home with
him. As for the hotel situation, Cate explained that she enjoyed her time with her brother
and mother, and did not realize that something was wrong. She thought it was a
vacation.

Cate informed that she is not afraid of her mother or her father. She wants to continue
with the present access schedule. She reports that the two residences are very
different, with her mother creating more structure and limitations than her father. She
added that she is happier now that her parents are separated and reside in separate
residences. She reports that prior to their separation her parents would often argue, and
that she and Sean could hear their parents. Cate added that prior o her parents’
separation, she would at times hide in the closet and cry when her parents argued, Cate
advised that she and her brother are aware of the ongoing adult conflict, as she has
heard both her parents talk about the adult conflict at one time or another.

Sean Kiska
Sean was interviewed in private at each of his parent's residence. He initially presented

as cautious and less forthcoming than Cate, After conversing.for a while, Sean
appeared to be relaxed. He was articulate.
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Sean is twelve years of age and in grade 6 at the same school as his sister. He
described school and his teacher as “ok”. Sean plays the saxophone and the piano, and
has played the clarinet in the past. He is not very interested in practicing but recognizes
that he needs to practice to maintain or get better at playing the instruments. He hapes
{o play in the band at school in grade seven. He was involved in the school band, and is
involved in drama, which he enjoys, as well as basketball, badminton and swimming.

Sean shared that he has friends at his mother's residence but not at his father’s. He
enjoys spending time with his friends. He added that his father engages with him and
his sister, but his mother engages more. While at his father's Sean shared that he
watches the television or is on electronic devices, which is mother limits.

Sean explained that he teases his sister in play and that the two argue at times. He
added that his father doesn’t direct them to stap, he “asks” them to do what he wants,
but in the end they do what they want. However, with their mother, Sean explained that
they listen to their mother and work together, He reports that he and his sister rarely get
time outs, as they respond to their mother’s directions- she is more serious, which is

“not necessarily a bad thing”. He practices his sax at his mother's and keeps his room
clean, and gets along with his sister.

DISCUSSION:

Sean is twelve years of age and in grade 6 at a French immersion school in Oftawa.
Although Sean has no identified special needs, his report cards note some challenges.
Sean presented as quieter than his sister but engaged with this writer. Nadine Crowley,
wha provided counselling to the family, shared her concerns regarding Sean, as he
tends to bottle his feelings up and has been aggressive at times.

Cate is ten years of age and in grade 5 and attends the same school as her brother.
She has prescribed eye wear. She has experienced what she refers to as “panic attacks
and anxiety”. Academically, Cate is not formally identified to have special needs.
However, she was recently assessed and scored very low in Fluid Reasoning with 3
percentile, and well below average at 8 percentile in Math Fluency. Cate has significant
struggles with inattention that significantly impacts her functioning at home and at
school. Dr. Matheson notes that without significant and intensive one-on-one suppert,
Cate would not be accessing the curriculum and meeting grade level expectations
successfully. The report also indicates that Cate is described as “increasingly
withdrawing from the classroom discussions and group assignments”, Additionally, it is
noted that over the past three years, “Cate’s challenges with inattention have increased
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significantly”, Cate is described as “anxious and having difficulty coping with big feelings
and struggles with sadness and over-excitement”.

Ms. Moore was instrumental in organizing Cate’s assessment and tutoring in order to
support Cate's academic needs. Ms. Moore felt that it was essential that Cate develop a
better understanding of the mathematic concepts and language before attending high
school, as she will be in grade 6 in September 2018. Mr. Kiska was not in support of
tutoring during the summer months and felt that Cate could catch up in grade six. As
such, Cate attends tutoring only during the times she has scheduled accesses with her
mather. The tutoring was paid for by the mother. In speaking with Cate about her
tutoring, she expressed exciternent with the results with her assignments and shared
that she doesn’t mind attending tutoring during the summer. She spoke of her tutoring in
positive terms. Such a positive experience, added to her successes in her academics,
may impact Cate’s self-esteem and confidence, and decrease her anxiety, and support
her academic performances. It would be beneficial for Cate to have a re-assessment
after grade six, to ascertain the progress and the supports, if any, she may require in
high school.

Sean and Cate were articulate in their interviews. They are reported as healthy by their
family physician. They enjoy a variety of activities at school and in the community, and
with their parents. The children shared that they love their parents and want to maintain
the present access schedule. Neither is fearful of either parent, With regards to
incidents that have involved their mother, the children are aware of their mother's
challenges and state that they are not fearful of her. Cate shared that she was
embarrassed at Best Buy and isn't interested in returning to that specific store. She
acknowledged that she was crying but it was her anxiety and embarrassment. She does
not have concerns with going places with her mother. The children shared that they
enjoyed their time with their mother at the hotel and looked at it as a short vacation.
They acknowledge that they missed their father and weren't too sure what was going
on. It was only after they were spoken to that they realized that something may have
been wrong.

The children shared that their mother is more engaged with them than their father.
There is more structure and limitations with their mother, such as limited television and
electronics, which is not the case with the father. Both children acknowledged that their
mother does not allow them to argue or fight, and that she encourages cooperation.
They do homework, when they have some, which is almaost never, and practice their
instruments. They work together and have fun together. At their father's the children
argue, tease each other, and at times have pushed one another. Although their father
tells them to stop, they don't, and the father does not interject.

16




During the observation visit, the father presented as taking a passive approach to
parenting and allowed Cate to decide whether her brother could help or not. Sean was
left out of the activity, as he watched his sister and father work together without him.
The children did not appear to respond to their father's directions. There was conflict at
the father's. This is not the case at the mother’s, where the children follow their mother's
directions. Despite their bickering, the children appear to have a close relationship.

The children shared that their parents used to argue a lot when they resided together.
Since the parental separation, it is much better. In speaking with the children, they
present as protective of both parents. The children are aware of the present adult
conflict and have witnessed incidents involving their mother. However, the children are
no longer attending counselling. Given the ongoing adult conflict, it is likely that the
children would benefit from additional counselling. Although Sean did not open up as
much as Cate during his past counseling sessions, with time he may become
comfortable and engage in the supports. In the past they were involved with Nadine
Crowley, which may smooth Sean’s receptiveness to counseling.

The mother does not deny she has mental health iilness of Brief Psychotic Episodes.
She has been admitted to hospitals since 2013, some of which she attended on her own
volition and asked to be admitted. She has also been involved with the capacity board in
2014. Dr. Mercer wanted to highlight that although the initial diagnosis for Ms. Moore
was Bipolar Affective Disorder, the mother presents as hypetthymic as her general
state, and she has experienced brief psychotic episodes related to the stress she has
experienced, and has responded well to medications. During the period that Dr. Mercer
was involved with the mother, Dr. Mercer did not have concerns regarding the mother's
involvement with the children.

In July 2015, Dr. Mercer shared that at that time, the diagnosis of Bipolar wasn't a
definitive diagnosis. The mother was experiencing much siress related to the issues
with her husband. The diagnosis of psychasis NOS (not otherwise specified) was
considered and the mother’s presentation appeared to be more in line with such a
diagnosis. In June 2017, the mother was seen at the request of her family physician, Dr,
Chow. She was responding to medications, which had been started by her family
physician. The mother did not present as distressed, and she was not psychotic.

More recent hospital records note that during October 13, 2017 the impression related
to Ms. Moore's diagnosis was “difficult to determine. Past diagnoses have included
bipolar + schizoaffective disorder vs brief psychotic episodes. The preferred diagnosis is
Brief Psychotic Episodes”. :




Dr. Chow spoke in positive terms of Ms. Moore and described her as “extremely
intelligent” and a “high functioning individual”. Dr. Chow added that Ms. Moore has been
open with her as to how she uses her prescribed medications.

Dr. Cardoso is of the opinion that Ms. Moore is stuck in a "loop” and feels she is
persecuted by Mr. Kiska. Dr, Cardoso feels this may be residual from Ms. Moore’s
"nsychotic breaks”. The relationship between Mr. Kiska and Ms. Moore is described as
"toxic” by Dr. Cardoso, and marred with “stone walling and defensiveness”. Ms. Moore
appears to make progress within the sessions, but Dr. Cardoso is of the opinion that
she often regresses ance she leaves his office. Ms. Moore “presents as wanting to
engage but there appears a capacity issue, as she reverts to persecutory ideas” with a
“delusional flavor”. With regards to “gaslighting”, Dr. Cardoso stated that "there might be
a kernel of truth but it is difficult to flush out”. He feels that the mother is struggling with
her “initial wound” and has difficuity seeing her role in the couple’s conflict. Dr. Cardoso
describes the couple’s conflict as “legal warfare” and adds that this adds tension to the
relationship and tension in to the homes. “This warfare is not useful’. He acknowledges
that this couple is highly intelligent and loves their children very much. “The family

. needs to come together and heal with the transition, and learn to navigate and
communicate amicably”.

Ms. Moore has engaged in supports and remains involved in counselling on an
individual basis but also in couples’ counselling with Dr. Cardoso. She has been
proactive and created a safety plan for the children, and has attended the hospital and
requested to be admitted. She has developed insight into her illness and continues to
work on coping strategies and healing. She has also asked the Children's Aid Society to
keep her file open to allow supports for the children.

Ms. Moore presents as the stronger parent. She was the children’s primary caregiver
prior to the couple's separation; the children respond to her directions; and she sets
limitations and structure for the children that support their needs, which does not appear
to be present with the father. The children have echoed these differences between the
parents, which have aiso been observed by this writer. Ms. Moore has been proactive in
having Cate assessed and securing tutoring for Cate. Additionally, Ms. Moore is paying
for the tutoring without the support of Mr. Kiska. The mother recognized that tutoring for
Cate may have a positive impact on Cate on many levels, such as her confidence and
self-esteem, and her academic performance and successes. However, the father did
not support tutoring during the summer. This would have left Cate with trying to
successfully achieve 2.5 years of academic curriculum in one academic year. This
would have likely created more stress and anxiety for Cate, and wouid likely have been
a daunting task, one that the father minimized. Cate’s positive experience with tutoring
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will likely impact her self-confidence, self-esteem, decrease her anxiety and increase
her academic successes.

Mr. Kiska has no mental health issues and no addictions. He has not been involved with
the justice system other than reporting Ms. Moore or asking for help. He is self-
employed and resides in Ottawa. Mr. Kiska, in his final interview, was not objecting to
Cate being assessed. He wanted to see “where the assessment would land, and then
see where to go from there”. However, once the assessment noted Cate’s challenges,
the father was not supportive of Cate attending tutoring during the summer months. He
is of the opinion that Cate should enjoy the summer and catch up next year. He did not
feel that the lack of tutoring this summer would make a difference for Cate. Mr. Kiska
expressed his concern with the impact the mother's behaviors have on the children, and
although the children have been invoived in counselling in the past, he made no efforts
to re-involve the children in counselling.

With regards to the Children’s Aid of Ottawa, they have been involved on and off since

2013. They report that Ms. Moore has a diagnosis of Bipolar Affective Disorder Type 1 Fa. s€
and it is noted that she does have paranoia that usually revolves around Mr. Kiska. It FALS€E
was aiso noted that there is ongoing contentious custody dispute between Ms. Moore ¢ &
and Mr. Kiska, with allegations made by each on a regular basis. The children did not
disclosure any safety concerns when in their mother's care, and Ms, Moore was in

agreement to contact Mr, Kiska to come and pick up the children when needed. The file

was closed January 2018.

Dr. Chow is of the opinion that the parental separation has been felt by the family
members, who may still be healing. Dr. Jackson shared that Ms. Moore has been .
isolated from her family related to Mr. Kiska’s actions and reportings, leaving Ms. Moore
grieving the loss of her family relationships. The parents are described as very caring
and loving, and involved with their children. They present as protective and having a
close relationship with both children. However, the communication between the parents
at this time is conflictual and problematic, and co-parenting does not appear to be an
option at this time.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. Custody: It is respectfully recommended that the mother have sole custody of
Sean and Cate Kiska. |
2. Access:r It is respectfully recomimended that the present access schedule
remain as 2-2-3, with the parent picking up the children for their access visit,
or with the children taking the school bus.
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Additionat Recommendations:

3. It is respectfully recommended that communication occur via
talkingparents.com or any other means of communication in which both
parents agree to in writing. The communications are to be strictly relating the
children, such as appointments, events, medical and academic information,
etc.

4. The children shall be involved in counselling and attend without the presence
of the parents if possible. The counselior will be informed of Cate's anxiety
and Sean’s limited interest in communicating his experiences. In the past the
children had developed a rapport with Nadine Crowley, who may be
amenable to meet with the children again. Ms. Crowley is familiar with both
children, which may add some comfort for Sean.

5. The parents shall continue to attend couple counseliing to work on their co-
parenting skills and their communication.

8. The children shall be with their mother on Mother's Day from 14:00 to 19:00,
and with their father on Father's Day from 14:00 to 19:00, regardiess of the
access schedule.

7. For Christmas 2018, the children shall spend the morning with the father until

ﬁ 13:00 and the afternoon with the mother until 19:00, and return to their 2-2-3
V schedule thereafter. This schedule shall alternate yearly, allowing each parent
time with their children on Christmas Day. _

8. The 2-2-3 access schedule shall be maintained throughout the year. The
parents shall be given the opporiunity to have one week access with the
children in July and one week access in August. Notice shall be provided to
the altemate parent prior to May 1 of each year. The requested week must be
agreed upon by both parties.

9. The access schedule and the transfers can be changed with the written
agreement of both parents.

10. The mother shall remain involved in counselling until her counsellor deems it
no longer necessary. The counsellor shail decide the frequency of the
sessions, as long as this does not negatively impact the mother's finances.
Should this occur, the mother shall seek and register with counselling
services that are affordable.

11.The parents shall sign consents allowing them to have access to the medical
and academic information, as well as any information pertaining to the
children. Each parent shall be responsible to access the children's
information. '




12. Both parents shall have the right to attend all activities in which the children
are involved in. The parents shall remain civil to one another and not discuss
aduit matters in the presence of the children or during these events.

13.The parents shail ensure that Cate attends her tutoring sessions regardless of
the scheduled access. Her tutoring sessions shall continue until she catches
up to the level she should be at. Both parents shall be responsible to ensure
that Cate aftends her sessions during the time Cate is in their care.

14. The parents shall ensure that the school is provided with Cate’s assessments
and progress, as well as any recommended supports and resources. An
informal IEP may be recommended to assist Cate with her progress. it may
be beneficial to have Cate re-assessed after grade 6 to ascertain her
progress and any gaps that would require further supports.

15.The children are not to be involved in the adult conflict, and shall not be
present during conversations regarding the adult conflict. Information
pertaining to the adult conflict shall be stored in a location that the children
have no access to.

16. The mother will develop a safety plan and share this pian with the father.

17.Should the children require medical attention, the parent present shall contact
the alternate parent as soon as possible.

18. The family shall participate with the Family Services Ottawa, for the Parenting
after Separation program.

19.A copy of this report shall be shared with the Children’s Aid Society of Ottawa

20. The Office of the Children’s Lawyer is amenable to being re-involved with this
family.

Dated in Timmins the 11" day of July, 2018.

393 University Ave.,

" Toronto, Ontario /5»&5”__&_

Office of the Children’s Lawyer Kafherine Bobula, R.N, BScN, MED

Clinician

21




